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Introduction 

The Truth in Lending Simplification and Reform 
Act of 1980 gave the agencies that enforce the 
Truth in Lending Act (FRB, OCC, FDIC, NCUA, 
and the OTS) the authority to require Financial 
institutions that violate certain provisions of the 
law to reimburse borrowers for faulty disclosures. 
Generally, the agencies are empowered to order 
restitution under their cease and desist authority 
for understatements of the annual percentage rate 
(APR) and finance charge disclosures resulting 
from: 

• a clear and consistent pattern or practice of 
disclosure errors; 

• gross negligence; or, 

• a willful violation of the Act. 

 
The agencies may also require restitution for 
isolated disclosure errors. 

The term “clear and consistent pattern or practice” 
is not defined in the Act. Consequently, the 
Interagency Policy Guide does not contain any 
precepts for application of this phrase.  

However, in making a determination, the examiner 
should attempt to detect the cause for a particular 
type of violation and determine whether that cause 
gives rise to violations in other transactions. 
Patterns or practices can arise from a particular 
loan officer, a form, a chart, a calculator or 
computer, or just plain sloppiness, to name a few 
examples. Patterns or practices can also be present 
in only certain transactions, e.g. real estate loans 
and not in other loans. 

Section 608 of the TIL Simplification and Reform 
Act (which contains the restitution provisions) is 
implemented by the Interagency Policy Guide for 
Restitution (see Appendix A). The Policy Guide 
was adopted by each agency represented on the 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination 
Council. The Policy Guide summarizes and 
explains the restitution provisions of the law and 
also explains the corrective actions that the 
agencies generally intend to take in those instances 

where the Act gave the agencies the authority to 
take equitable remedial action. 

The Interagency Policy Guide for Restitution 

Definitions 

The Policy Guide contains several definitions that 
are critical to both the understanding and the 
application of the restitution provisions to 
individual cases. Some of these definitions are 
discussed below. 

1. Current Examination — this is the most recent 
examination begun on or after March 31, 1980 
(the effective date of Section 608) in which 
compliance with Regulation Z was reviewed. 

This is an extremely important definition because 
corrective action time periods are measured from 
the date of the current examination. 

2. Understated APR — an understated APR is a 
disclosed APR which is one-quarter of one 
percent less than the actual APR for all 
transactions except for regular mortgage loans 
which have an amortization schedule of more 
than ten years; for these transactions the 
tolerance is one-eighth of one percent. 

To explain, if a transaction has a disclosed APR of 
10.00 percent and the actual APR is 10.26 or 
more, the disclosed figure is understated and 
restitution would be required. If, however, a 
transaction has an amortization schedule of greater 
than ten years, and it is otherwise regular (equal 
payments with or without an odd first or last 
payment such as a balloon, with a single advance) 
then the tolerance is only one-eighth of one percent 
and a corresponding tolerance of .125 would be 
applied. 

3. Understated Finance Charge — a finance 
charge is considered understated if it is lower 
than the finance charge that would be 
generated on the transaction by the APR 
reduced by the corresponding tolerance. The 
footnote to this definition in the Policy Guide 
provides a simple example that explains the 
application of the tolerance. 
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To determine whether a finance charge is 
understated, it is necessary to compare the 
disclosed finance charge to the finance charge 
generated by reducing the lowest permissible APR 
by the applicable tolerance. If the disclosed finance 
charge falls below the finance charge generated by 
the reduced APR, then the disclosed finance charge 
would be understated. If the resulting difference 
between the disclosed finance charge and the 
finance charge generated by the reduced APR is 
more than one dollar, the difference would be 
reimbursed. 

De Minimus Rule 

The statute contains a de minimus rule for 
adjustment amounts that fall below $1.00. 
However, the agencies could still require a creditor 
to reimburse the de minimus amounts to the U.S. 
Treasury. 

Corrective Action Period 

Generally, the corrective action time period for 
closed-end credit runs from the date of the current 
examination back to the date of the prior 
examination in which Regulation Z was reviewed. 
However, if the same violation was cited at the 
date of the prior examination, the corrective action 
time period continues backwards to the date of the 
examination in which the creditor was first notified 
of the violation. Given the fact that restitution has 
been part of the examination process for a number 
of years now, rarely will the time periods extend 
further back than the date of the prior examination. 

The Policy Guide also makes reference to requiring 
restitution on transactions that were originated 
between January 1, 1977 and March 31, 1980. 
This was a provision that had meaning and 
applicability during the first few years of 
implementation after the effective date of the act. It 
was designed to assure that those institutions that 
had restitution requests pending during the time 
that the Congress was deliberating the restitution 
provisions within the context of the amended Truth 
In Lending Act, would still be required to 
reimburse affected customers. 

Terminated closed-end credit transactions have a 
different corrective action period. An adjustment 
on a terminated loan will only be requested if the 

loan was consummated and terminated within the 
two year period preceeding the date of the current 
examination. 

Open-end credit transactions are subject to an 
adjustment if the violation occurred within the two-
year period preceding the date of the current 
examination. 

Corrective action applies to all applicable 
transactions during the corrective action period and 
is not limited to only those found by the examiner 
to require restitution. 

Calculating the Adjustment 

The tolerance amount may be applied in 
calculating the amount of any adjustment to the 
consumer’s account. This means that if a disclosed 
APR, for example, is understated by .40 percent, 
the creditor need only reimburse the dollar 
difference represented by .15 percent. 

Methods of Adjustment 

Only two methods of reimbursement are permitted, 
the lump sum, and lump sum/payment reduction 
methods. 

Under the lump sum method, the creditor 
reimburses to the borrower a cash payment equal 
to the total adjustment over the life of the loan. 
Under the lump sum/payment reduction method, 
the creditor reimburses a cash payment equal to the 
overcharge up to the time of the adjustment, and 
reduces the remaining payments on the loan. This 
latter method is typically used in real estate 
transactions to mitigate the effects of restitution on 
cash flow. 

Non-Disclosure of the APR or Finance Charge 

The Policy Guide provides special guidance for 
situations where a creditor has failed to disclose 
either the APR or finance charge on a transaction. 
If an APR was not disclosed, the contract rate of 
interest is considered to be the APR for purposes 
of application of the Policy Guide. If both the APR 
and the contract rate of interest were not disclosed, 
a consumer will not be required to pay an amount 
greater than the actual APR reduced by one-
quarter of one percentage point in the case of first 



SECTION: Restitution Section 310 
   

 

 

Office of Thrift Supervision December 1999 Compliance Activities    310.3  

lien mortgage transactions, and one percentage 
point in all other transactions. 

A failure to disclose the finance charge altogether 
does not require reimbursement. 

Credit Life, Accident and Health Insurance 
Disclosure Violations 

Violations of the Regulation Z provisions that 
enable creditors to exclude credit life premiums 
from the finance charge are to be treated as 
violations of either the APR of finance charge 
disclosure rules. 

Special Disclosures 

Violations of either the property insurance or 
security interest fee or non-Fling insurance 
provisions in Section 226.4(e) of Regulation Z are 
exempt from the restitution requirements by 
statute. 

Obvious Errors 

The Policy Guide contains a special rule for errors 
in the APR or finance charge disclosures that are 
so obvious that a reasonable person could not have 
relied on them in making a credit shopping 
decision. If the APR of finance charge that was 
disclosed is ten percent or less of the amount that 
should have been disclosed, no adjustment will be 
required. This rule is aimed primarily at common 
clerical mistakes such as disclosing an APR as 
“1.000” instead of “10.00” or a finance charge as 
“$37,678.32” instead of “$376,783.20.” 

This special rule is infrequently applicable. 
However, when it has been applied, it has usually 
been in connection with finance charge disclosure 
mistakes where the creditor merely discloses the 
prepaid finance charge as the entire finance charge 
on a long-term loan, and, consequently, fails to 
include the much larger interest component. 

Agency Discretion 

The statute gave the agencies very limited 
discretion to exempt a creditor from reimbursement 
if some stringent tests are satisfied. First, the 
disclosure error had to result from unique 

circumstances; second, it had to involve a clearly 
technical and nonsubstantive disclosure violation; 
third, it did not adversely affect information 
provided to the borrower; and, fourth, it did not 
mislead or otherwise deceive the borrower. 

This is a very strict series of tests that are very 
difficult to satisfy. Basically, it would be highly 
unusual to reach a finding where an APR or a 
finance charge disclosure violation is considered 
clearly technical or nonsubstantive. A violation of 
either of these items, which are the focus of the 
Truth in Lending Act, would always adversely 
affect information provided to the borrower. 
Moreover, a regulatory agency is not in the 
position to reach a determination that a borrower 
was not misled or otherwise deceived by a 
disclosure error. 

Given the exacting nature of this very limited 
exibility, ARDs (Assistant Regional Director for 
Compliance) should consult with the Division of 
Compliance Programs within the Office of Thrift 
Supervision when a situation involving the 
potential application of the agency discretion 
clause is being considered. 

Safety and Soundness 

The statute does not provide the agencies with 
much latitude for forgiving restitution even when 
restitution would have a significantly adverse 
impact on the solvency of the creditor. The 
agencies are, however, permitted to allow partial, 
installment payments of reimbursement amounts to 
borrowers over an extended period to minimize 
adverse impact on a creditor’s safety and 
soundness. 

Exemption from Restitution Orders 

The Policy Guide indicates that a creditor would 
not be subject to an agency order requiring 
restitution if it adjusts the accounts on its own 
within 60 days of learning of the disclosure 
violation. This is unrelated to the civil liability 
provisions of Section 130 of the Truth in Lending 
Act. 
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Question and Answer Document 

To facilitate understanding of application of the 
Policy Guide to various, common fact situations, 
the agencies have prepared an internal question and 
answer document. This document is contained in 
Appendix B of this Handbook section. 

Documentation Requirements 

When an understated APR or finance charge is 
discovered, certain documentation should be 
recorded on a separate workpaper. Information on 
this workpaper should be adequate to facilitate 
calculation of the APR, finance charge, and 
reimbursement amount for each loan without 
further reference to the loan file. At a minimum, 
the following should be recorded for each affected 
loan: 

• loan amount 

• note rate 

• actual prepaid finance charge 

• actual amount financed 

• disclosed amount financed 

• disclosed finance charge 

• actual finance charge 

• disclosed APR  

• actual APR  

• date finance charge began to accrue 

• first payment due date 

• number of payments made to date 

• payment schedule (amount and number, and if 
on demand, state “demand”) 

• term of the loan 

 

Report Requirements 

A pattern or practice of violations involving 
understated APRs or finance charges must be 
included in the report comments. It is not necessary 
to identify individual loans in the comments except 
in cases where a lawsuit or consumer complaint 
has been fled or is anticipated. 

The report comments should include the following 
supporting information for understated APR or 
finance charge violations constituting a pattern or 
practice: 

• number of violations found by loan type or 
source 

• sample sizes 

• volume of lending by loan type or source 

• pertinent information establishing the cause of 
the violations and the extent of the problem  

• a statement identifying the specific institution 
management member(s) with whom the 
violations were discussed and to whom the 
exception sheets identifying all violations were 
given. 

Examination Objectives 

To determine whether the institution has any 
obligation under the restitution provisions of the 
Act to reimburse borrowers for understatements of 
the APR or finance charge disclosure provisions of 
Regulation Z. 

Examination Procedures 

1. The following procedures are performed as an 
adjunct to the review for general compliance 
with the Truth in Lending Act. They only 
apply if the examiner has identified 
understated APRs or finance charges in the 
sample taken as part of the Truth in Lending 
examination procedures. 

2. In connection with the examination procedures 
conducted under “Truth in Lending,” 
determine whether there is a pattern or practice 
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of APR or finance charge disclosure violations 
requiring reimburse-ment. 

3. If there is a pattern or practice of APR or 
finance charge disclosure violations requiring 
restitution, estimate the potential dollar 
amount, and inform the institution of the 
potential amount and the cause of the problem. 

4. Document findings as appropriate. 
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Background 

The Truth in Lending Act Amendments of 1995 
and the Economic Growth and Regulatory Paper-
work Reduction Act of 1996 amended the TILA to 
incorporate new tolerances for disclosures of the 
finance charge and other disclosures affected by 
the finance charge on certain types of loans. These 
amendments specify that in closed-end consumer 
credit transactions secured by real property or a 
dwelling, the disclosed finance charge and other 
disclosures affected by the disclosed finance 
charge shall be treated as accurate if the amount 
disclosed as the finance charge is overstated, or is 
understated by no more than $100 for transactions 
consummated on or after September 30, 1995, or 
$200 for loans made before that date. The Federal 
Reserve Board proposed and adopted amendments 
to Regulation Z in 1996 to implement the statutory 
changes (12 CFR 226.18(d)(1), 226.18(d)(2), 
226.22(a)(4) and 226.22(a)(5)). 

The Policy Statement originally issued in 1980 was 
directly affected by the amendments to the TILA 
and the changes to Regulation Z in several re-
spects. First, the changes to the tolerances affect 
the definition for understated annual percentage 
rates (APR) contained in the Policy Statement. 
Second, the amendments enhanced the agencies' 
abilities to make modifications to the amount or 
timing of restitution in the event that payment of 
restitution would adversely affect the capital posi-
tion of the financial institution. In the main, the 
revisions to the Policy Statement make only those 
changes necessary to accommodate statutory re-
quirements. Some other editorial changes were 
made, however, to reflect that some provisions of 
the original Policy Statement were no longer 
needed due to the passage of time. 

Summary of Changes 

The revised Policy Statement drops the definition 
of ``Irregular Mortgage Transaction.'' The term is 
used in the Truth in Lending Simplification and 
Reform Act in the definition of an understated 
APR for loans secured by dwellings consummated 
prior to March 31, 1982. There is no longer any 
need for maintaining a separate definition of this 
term in the Policy Statement. A footnote has been 
included in the revised Policy Statement to indicate 
that, should loans consummated prior to March 31, 

1982 having understated APRs be found, the origi-
nal Policy Statement should be consulted for guid-
ance. 

The definition of the term ``Understated APR'' in 
the Policy Statement has been modified to reflect 
revised tolerances for certain real estate secured 
transactions. The Truth in Lending Amendments of 
1995 and the Economic Growth and Regulatory 
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996 mandated these 
revisions. The Policy Statement has also been re-
vised to consolidate six separate sub-parts to the 
definition of an ``Understated APR'' into two sub-
parts; (1) Loans having an amortization schedule 
of 10 years or less, and (2) loans with an amortiza-
tion schedule of more than 10 years. 

• Loans having an amortization schedule of 10 
years or less will be provided a tolerance of 25 
basis points (one-quarter of one percent). 
Loans that are secured by real estate or a 
dwelling will be provided the tolerances per-
mitted by 12 CFR 226.22(a)(4) and (5). 

• Loans having an amortization schedule of 
more than 10 years will be provided a toler-
ance of 12.5 basis points (one-eighth of one 
percent) in the case of a regular transaction 
and 25 basis points (one-quarter of one per-
cent) in the case of an irregular transaction. 
Loans that are secured by real estate or a 
dwelling will be provided the tolerances per-
mitted by 12 CFR 226.22(a)(4) and (5). 

References to 15 U.S.C. 1606(c) contained in the 
body of the definition of an understated APR in the 
original Policy Statement have now been moved to 
footnote 3 in the revised Policy Statement. The 
change was purely editorial in nature. A new foot-
note 4 has been added to more specifically identify 
the sections of Regulation Z (12 CFR 226.14(a) 
and 226.22(a)) that define the requirements for 
annual percentage rate disclosures. 

The ``Corrective Action Period'' section of the 
original Policy Statement contains time frames for 
determining which loans are subject to adjustment 
when violations are discovered. Previously, the 
agencies have collectively taken the position that 
the phrase ``immediately preceding examination'' in 
subsection 2.b. means the most recent examination 
that precedes the current examination in which 
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compliance with Regulation Z and the Act was 
reviewed. However, the United States Court of 
Appeals for the 8th Circuit (First National Bank of 
Council Bluffs v. Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency, 956 F.2d 1456 (8th Cir. 1992)), and the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh 
Circuit, (Consolidated Bank, N.A. v. United States 
Department of the Treasury, 118 F.3d 1461 (11th 
Cir. 1997)) determined that the phrase ``immedi-
ately preceding examination'' should be read as 
referring to an examination of any type conducted 
immediately prior to the current examination, in-
cluding examinations in which no review of com-
pliance with Regulation Z or the Act is conducted. 
Consequently, the agencies, as a matter of policy, 
will now apply the decisions reached by the Eighth 
and Eleventh Circuit Courts in carrying out their 
enforcement responsibilities with respect to the 
meaning of ``immediately preceding examination.'' 
No changes to the Policy Statement are necessary 
to effect this policy position made by the agencies. 
Additional guidance will be provided to the exami-
nation staff for each agency to advise on the proper 
period for corrective action when violations requir-
ing adjustments are discovered. 

In the section of the Policy Statement entitled 
``Violations Involving the Improper Disclosure of 
Credit Life, Accident, Health, or Loss of Income 
Insurance,'' the original Policy Statement had a 
separate provision detailing how certain violations 
involving credit life insurance disclosures would be 
treated until March 31, 1982. Since this time pe-
riod has now expired that portion of the section has 
been deleted. 

The Economic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork 
Reduction Act of 1996 provided additional flexibil-
ity for the regulatory agencies to require partial or 
delayed payments for reimbursements by an insti-
tution if the payment would cause the institution to 
become undercapitalized as that term is defined in 
section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. 
Those provisions are now reflected in the section 
of the Policy Statement entitled ``Safety and 
Soundness.'' That section states that if the results 
of a full and immediate adjustment required under 
the Policy Statement would have a significant ad-
verse impact on the capital position of the creditor, 
the agencies can permit partial adjustments to be 
made or permit partial payments over an extended 
period of time 
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Administrative Enforcement of the Truth in Lending Act—Restitution (Revised       
September 8, 1998)  

Joint Statement of Policy 

The Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980 (Pub. L. 96-221) was enacted on 
March 31, 1980. Title VI of that Act, the Truth in Lending Simplification and Reform Act, amends the Truth 
in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. 1601, et seq. Section 608 of Title VI, effective March 31, 1980, authorizes the fed-
eral Truth in Lending enforcement agencies to order creditors to make monetary and other adjustments to the 
accounts of consumers where an annual percentage rate (APR) or finance charge was inaccurately disclosed. It 
generally requires the agencies to order restitution when such disclosure errors resulted from a clear and con-
sistent pattern or practice of violations, gross negligence, or a willful violation which was intended to mislead 
the person to whom the credit was extended. However, the Act does not preclude the agencies from ordering 
restitution for isolated disclosure errors. 

This policy guide summarizes and explains the restitution provisions of the Truth in Lending Act (Act), as 
amended. The material also explains corrective actions the financial regulatory agencies believe will be appro-
priate and generally intend to take in those situations in which the Act gives the agencies the authority to take 
equitable remedial action. 

The agencies anticipate that most financial institutions will voluntarily comply with the restitution provisions 
of the Act as part of the normal regulatory process. If a creditor does not voluntarily act to correct violations, 
the agencies will use their cease and desist authority to require correction pursuant to: 15 U.S.C. 1607 and 12 
U.S.C. 1818(b) in the cases of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the Office of Thrift Supervision; 
and 15 U.S.C. 1607 and 12 U.S.C. 1786(e)(1) in the case of the National Credit Union Administration. 

Restitution Provisions 

Definitions 

Except as provided below, all definitions are those found in the Act and Regulation Z, 12 CFR part 226. 

1. ``Current examination'' means the most recent examination begun on or after March 31, 1980, in which 
compliance with Regulation Z was reviewed. 

2. ``Lump sum method'' means a method of reimbursement in which a cash payment equal to the total ad-
justment will be made to a consumer. 

3. ``Lump sum/payment reduction method'' means a method of reimbursement in which the total adjustment 
to a consumer will be made in two stages: 

a. A cash payment that fully adjusts the consumer's account up to the time of the cash payment; and, 

b. A reduction of the remaining payment amounts on the loan. 

4.  ``Understated APR'' means a disclosed APR that is understated by more than the reimbursement tolerance 
provided in the Act as follows: 



APPENDIX A: Restitution Section: 310  
      

 

310A.4    Compliance Activities December 1999  Office of Thrift Supervision  

a. For loans with an amortization schedule of 10 years or less, a disclosed APR which, when in-
creased by the greater of the APR tolerance specified in the Act and Regulation Z or one-quarter 
of one percent, is less than the actual APR calculated under the Act. 

b.  For loans consummated after March 31, 1982. For loans consummated prior to that date refer to 
the Policy Guide dated July 21, 1980 (45 FR 48712) for additional guidance. 

c.  15 U.S.C. 1606(c) 

d.  12 CFR 226.14(a) and 226.22(a) 

e.  If, however, the loan is closed-end credit secured by real estate or a dwelling and the APR is un-
derstated by more than one-quarter of one percent, the APR will be considered accurate and not 
subject to reimbursement if: (1) The finance charge is understated but considered accurate in ac-
cordance with the Act and Regulation (i.e., the finance charge is not understated by more than 
$100 on loans made on or after 9/30/95, or $200 for loans made before that date); and (2) the 
APR is not understated by more than the dollar equivalent of the finance charge error and the un-
derstated APR resulted from the understated finance charge that is considered accurate. 

f.  For loans with an amortization schedule of more than 10 years, a disclosed APR which, when in-
creased by the APR tolerance specified in the Act and Regulation Z (i.e., one-quarter of one per-
cent for irregular loans, one-eighth of one percent for all other closed-end loans) is less than the 
actual APR. 

g.  If, however, the loan is closed-end credit secured by real estate or a dwelling and the APR is un-
derstated by more than one-eighth of one percent if the transaction is not considered to be an ir-
regular transaction as defined by the Regulation (12 CFR 226.22(a)(3)) or one quarter of one per-
cent if the transaction is irregular according to the definition, the APR will be considered accurate 
and no subject to reimbursement if: (1) The finance charge is understated but considered accurate 
according to the Actual Regulation (i.e., the finance charge is understated but considered accurate 
according to the Act and Regulation i.e., the finance charge is not understated by more than $100 
on loans made on or after 9/30/95, or $200 for loans made before that date); and (2) the APR is 
not understated by more than the dollar equivalent of the finance charge error and the understated 
APR resulted from the understated finance charge that is considered accurate. 

5.  ``Understated finance charge'' means a disclosed finance charge which, when increased by the greater of 
the finance charge dollar tolerance specified in the Act and Regulation Z or a dollar tolerance that is gen-
erated by the corresponding APR reimbursement tolerance is less than the finance charge calculated under 
the Act. 

a.  The finance charge tolerance for each loan will be generated by the corresponding APR tolerance 
applicable to that loan. For example, consider a single-payment loan with a one-year maturity that 
is subject to a one-quarter of one percent APR tolerance. If the amount financed is $5,000 and the 
finance charge is $912.50, the actual APR will be 18.25%. The finance charge generated by an 
APR of 18% (applying the one-quarter of one percent APR tolerance to 18.25%) for that loan 
would be $900. The difference between $912.50 and $900 produces a numerical finance charge 
tolerance of $12.50. If the disclosed finance charge is not understated by more than $12.50, reim-
bursement would not be ordered. 
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De Minimis Rule 

If the amount of adjustment on an account is less than $1.00, no restitution will be ordered. However, the 
agencies may require a creditor to make any adjustments of less than $1.00 by paying into the United States 
Treasury, if more than one year has elapsed since the date of the violation. 

Corrective Action Period 

1. Open-end credit transactions will be subject to an adjustment if the violation occurred within the two-year 
period preceding the date of the current examination. 

2. Closed-end credit transactions will be subject to an adjustment if the violation resulted from a clear and 
consistent pattern or practice or gross negligence where: 

a. There is an understated APR on a loan which originated between January 1, 1977 and March 31, 1980. 

b. There is an understated APR or understated finance charge, and the practice giving rise to the violation 
is identified during the current examination. Loans containing the violation which were consummated 
since the date of the immediately preceding examination are subject to an adjustment. 

c. There is an understated APR or understated finance charge, the practice giving rise to the violation was 
identified during a prior examination and the practice is not corrected by the date of the current exami-
nation. Loans containing the violation which were consummated since the creditor was first notified in 
writing of the violation are subject to an adjustment. (Prior examinations include any examinations 
conducted since July 1, 1969). 

3. Each closed-end credit transaction, consummated since July 1, 1969, and containing a willful violation 
intended to mislead the consumer is subject to an adjustment. 

4. For terminated loans subject to 2, above, an adjustment will not be ordered if the violation occurred in a 
transaction consummated more than two years prior to the date of the current examination. 

Calculating the Adjustment 

Consumers will not be required to pay any amount in excess of the finance charge or dollar equivalent of the 
APR actually disclosed on transactions involving: 

1. Understated APR violations on transactions consummated between January 1, 1977 and March 31, 1980, 
or 

2. Willful violations which were intended to mislead the consumer. 

On all other transactions, applicable tolerances provided in the definitions of understated APR and understated 
finance charge may be applied in calculating the amount of adjustment to the consumer's account. 

Methods of Adjustment 

The consumer's account will be adjusted using the lump sum method or the lump sum/payment reduction 
method, at the discretion of the creditor. 
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Violations Involving the Non-Disclosure of the APR or Finance Charge 

1. In cases where an APR was required to be disclosed but was not, the disclosed APR shall be considered to 
be the contract rate, if disclosed on the note or the Truth in Lending disclosure statement. 

2. In cases where an APR was required to be disclosed but was not, and no contract rate was disclosed, con-
sumers will not be required to pay an amount greater than the actual APR reduced by one-quarter of one 
percentage point, in the case of first lien mortgage transactions, and by one percentage point in all other 
transactions. 

3. In cases where a finance charge was not disclosed, no adjustment will be ordered. 

Violations Involving the Improper Disclosure of Credit Life, Accident, Health, or Loss of Income Insur-
ance 

1. If the creditor has not disclosed to the consumer in writing that credit life, accident, health, or loss of in-
come insurance is optional, the insurance shall be treated as having been required and improperly excluded 
from the finance charge. An adjustment will be ordered if it results in an understated APR or finance 
charge. The insurance will remain in effect for the remainder of its term. 

2. If the creditor has disclosed to the consumer in writing that credit life, accident, health, or loss of income 
insurance is optional, but there is either no signed insurance option or no disclosure of the cost of the in-
surance, the insurance shall be treated as having been required and improperly excluded from the finance 
charge. An adjustment will be ordered if it results in an understated APR or finance charge. The insurance 
will remain in effect for the remainder of its term. 

Special Disclosures 

Adjustments will not be required for violations involving the disclosures required by sections 106(c) and (d) of 
the Act, (15 U.S.C. 1605(c) and (d)). 

Obvious Errors 

If an APR was disclosed correctly, but the finance charge required to be disclosed was understated, or if the 
finance charge was disclosed correctly, but the APR required to be disclosed was understated, no adjustment 
will be required if the error involved a disclosed value which was 10 percent or less of the amount that should 
have been disclosed. 

Agency Discretion 

Adjustments will not be required if the agency determines that the disclosure error resulted from any unique 
circumstances involving a clearly technical and non-substantive disclosure violation which did not adversely 
affect information provided to the consumer and which did not mislead or otherwise deceive the consumer. 

Safety and Soundness 

In some cases, an agency may order, in place of an immediate, full adjustment, either a partial adjustment, or a 
full adjustment in partial payments over an extended time period that the agency considers reasonable. The 
agency may do so if it determines that (1) the full, immediate adjustment would have a significantly adverse 
impact upon the safety and soundness of the creditor, and (2) a partial adjustment, or making partial payments 
over an extended period of time, is necessary to avoid causing the creditor to become undercapitalized. 
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a.   The term ``undercapitalized'' will have the meaning as defined in section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Act (12 U.S.C. 1831o). 

Exemption from Restitution Orders 

A creditor will not be subject to an order to make an adjustment if within 60 days after discovering a disclo-
sure error, whether pursuant to a final written examination report or through the creditor's own procedures, the 
creditor notifies the person concerned of the error and adjusts the account to ensure that such person will not 
be required to pay a finance charge in excess of that actually disclosed or the dollar equivalent of the APR dis-
closed, whichever is lower. This 60-day period for correction of disclosure errors is unrelated to the provisions 
of the civil liability section of the Act. 
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS  
Regarding Joint Interagency Statement  

Of Policy For Administrative Enforcement  
Of The Truth In Lending Act - Reimbursement  

Issued By The FFIEC On July 11, 1980  
And Revised October 1998. 

General 

1. Do the enforcement standards and accuracy tolerances in the Policy Guide supersede the requirements 
of the Truth in Lending Act (Act) and Regulation Z? 

No, the Policy Guide applies only to agency enforcement procedures.  It does not alter a creditor’s respon-
sibility to comply fully with all the requirements of the Act and Regulation Z, including finance charge and 
annual percentage rate (APR) accuracy requirements. 

2. When violations are discovered in purchased or assigned loans that are initially payable to a person 
other than the financial institution, will the financial institution be ordered to make the necessary ad-
justments to the accounts of affected customers? 

No, the financial institution is not the creditor, even if the obligation by its terms is initially payable to a 
third party and simultaneously assigned to the financial institution.  The violations will be referred to the 
creditor’s enforcing agency. 

3. If the creditor must itemize the amount financed but fails to disclose or understates the prepaid finance 
charge, will reimbursement be required? 

No, this violation of Regulation Z will require prospective corrective action only, assuming the prepaid fi-
nance charges are properly included in the computation of the APR and finance charge. 

4. If APR or finance charge disclosures not required by Regulation Z have been made, will reimbursement 
be required when such optional disclosures are understated? 

No, however, errors in disclosures not required by Regulation Z for a particular transaction are violations 
of either 12 CFR 226.5(a)(1) or 12 CFR 226.17(a)(1), both of which require that credit disclosures be 
made clearly and conspicuously. 

Definitions 

“Current examination” 

1. How should the Policy Guide apply to a situation where an examiner, in an examination in progress 
discovers that reimbursement had not been undertaken as requested by the enforcement agency follow-
ing the prior examination?  What if the institution states that this examination is the “current examina-
tion” thereby requiring it to only make adjustments to those loans found to be in violation and consum-
mated since the prior examination?  

TILA does not limit the agencies’ authority to require correction of violations detected in earlier examina-
tions and that have not been corrected as of the date of the current examination [see §108(e)(3)(C)(i) of the 
Act, found at 15 USC 1607(e)(3)(c)(i)]. In addition, if the practice giving rise to the violations identified in 
the earlier examination has not been corrected, the institution will be required to make adjustments on any 
loans containing the violation that were consummated since the date it was first notified in writing of the 
violation and comply with the corrective action already ordered. 

Appendix B 
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“Understated APR” 

1. What is meant by “actual APR” and “annual percentage rate calculated in accordance with the Act," as 
used in the Policy Guide? 

Those terms mean the lowest permissible APR that can be computed, applying all applicable provisions of 
Regulation Z. 

De Minimis Rule 

1. How should the de minimis rule be applied in closed-end credit transactions? 

The de minimis rule should always be applied to the amount of the adjustment calculated under the “lump 
sum method” of reimbursement as of the maturity date of the transaction, regardless of which reimburse-
ment method is ultimately used by the creditor. 

2. How should the de minimis rule be applied in open-end credit transactions? 

The de minimis rule should be applied to the total amount of the adjustment calculated for each con-
sumer’s account under the “lump sum method” for the period of time from the date of the current examina-
tion back to the date of the first occurrence of the violation.  However, the total time period may not ex-
ceed the two-year period prior to the date of the current examination. 

Corrective Action Period 

1. Have the agencies changed their position on the time period required for taking corrective action for 
violations involving closed-end credit? 

Yes. Prior to 1997, the agencies took the position that the statutory phrase “immediately preceding exami-
nation” (which serves as the cutoff date for retroactive application of a reimbursement requirement) re-
ferred to the most recent examination (prior to the current examination) in which compliance with Regula-
tion Z and the Act was reviewed.  Because of decisions reached by the Eighth and Eleventh Circuits of the 
United States Courts of Appeal, the agencies have adopted a new policy. The agencies by policy now in-
terpret the phrase “immediately preceding examination” to mean an examination of any type conducted for 
any purpose by a federal regulatory agency with designated administrative enforcement responsibility un-
der the TILA.  However, supervisory visitations, inspections, or other reviews that are not considered ex-
aminations by the agencies are not considered examinations for purposes of applying retroactivity limita-
tion.  In addition, an examination of an affiliated entity, such as an operating subsidiary or an institution’s 
holding company, is not considered an examination for purposes of determining the corrective action time 
period under the Act. 

2. What is the effective date of the new policy change regarding the time period for corrective action for 
violations involving closed-end credit? 

The policy change regarding the corrective action time period was effective as of August 7, 1997.   

3. Can an institution terminate the remainder of its restitution obligation to a borrower in light of this 
change in policy? 

No.  The policy change applies to future and pending cases as of the effective date.  There will be no 
change in reimbursement obligations arising in connection with restitution cases that have been previously 
resolved. Once the institution makes its decision about the restitution method that it will pursue, it is ex-
pected to complete its obligations to affected borrowers as agreed. 
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For example, under the “Lump Sum/Payment Reduction” method of reimbursement, an institution remits 
to the borrower a lump sum covering excess money paid to the point that restitution is made, and then re-
duces future payments to cover the remaining restitution obligation.  Under the new policy, the agencies 
will not permit the institution to terminate its remaining restitution obligation by increasing the borrower’s 
payments to the level they were prior to the restitution action. 

4. How will the agencies apply the policy change when “concurrent” examinations are being conducted at 
a financial institution? 

Concurrent examinations occur when several different types of examinations begin on the same day or 
when examinations begin in succession. Concurrent examinations may also begin several weeks or months 
apart but within the same examination cycle, based on factors such as the availability of working space for 
the examination teams, or the expressed preferences of the institution’s management. 

For purposes of applying the policy change regarding the corrective action time period, the agencies con-
sider a concurrent examination to be one event.  Assume, for example, the situation where a safety and 
soundness examination begins on Monday, a trust examination begins on Tuesday, and the compliance ex-
amination starts on Wednesday.  Assume further that the compliance team identifies a pattern or practice 
of violations triggering the restitution provisions of the Act.  The agencies will consider the immediately 
preceding examination to be the last completed examination, not the trust examination that began on Tues-
day, or the safety and soundness examination that began on Monday. 

Similarly, assume an institution’s examination is to be conducted in succession, meaning that the compli-
ance examination would begin after the safety and soundness and/or trust examination on site work in the 
institution is completed, which could be several months after the start date of the concurrent examination.  
The agencies will consider those concurrent examinations to be part of the same examination cycle for 
purposes of the policy. 

5. Does the policy change limit or otherwise affect the corrective action time period where a practice iden-
tified at a prior examination is not corrected by the date of the current examination? 

No.  The Policy Guide and statute provide that if a practice is identified during a current examination and 
the examiner determines that the same practice was identified during a prior examination but is not cor-
rected by the date of the current examination, the corrective action time period is retroactive to the date of 
the prior examination in which the violation was identified.  This will be true even if there have been inter-
vening examinations that did not review for compliance with the Act and Regulation Z. [see § 
108(e)(3)(c)(I) found at 15 USC 1107(e)(3)(c)(I)] 

6. Are there any differences in application of the policy change when restitution situations involve open-
end credit rather than closed-end credit? 

Yes.  The Act provides different corrective action time periods for open-end and closed-end credit.  The 
policy change applies to restitution situations involving closed-end credit.  The corrective action time pe-
riod for open-end credit covers the 24-month period preceding the date of the current examination, regard-
less of whether another examination intervenes during that period. 

7. What is the corrective action period with respect to terminated closed-end loans if an institution elects 
to comply voluntarily with the restitution provisions of the Policy Guide, absent a current examination? 

The Policy Guide states that "for terminated loans ... an adjustment will not be ordered if the violation oc-
curred in a transaction consummated more than two years prior to the date of the current examination." If 
an institution elects to comply voluntarily with the Policy Guide absent a current examination, the finan-
cial institution will have the option of either: 
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(1) Deferring reimbursement on any terminated loans until its regulatory agency conducts a current ex-
amination, or (2) Reimbursing on any terminated loans falling within the period prior to the discovery of 
the violation up to the date of the immediately preceding examination.  If that time frame is in excess of 
two years, then reimbursement may be limited to the two-year period prior to the date of discovery of the 
violation. 

8. How will the Policy Guide apply when loans subject to reimbursement are acquired through a merger, 
consolidation, or in exchange for the assumption of deposit liabilities? 

In the case of a merger or consolidation, the receiving institution or the consolidated institution is liable for 
all liabilities of the merged or consolidating institutions, and the Policy Guide will apply. 

In the case of loans acquired in exchange for the assumption of deposit liabilities, the Policy Guide will 
apply to the original creditor. 

Calculating the Adjustment 

1. How will disclosures containing information properly estimated under 12 CFR 226.5(c), 12 CFR 
226.17(c), and Appendix D be treated for reimbursement determinations and computations?  

If an APR or finance charge is in error for any reason other than a properly made estimate, the determina-
tion of whether the error constitutes a reimbursable overcharge will be made using the estimated informa-
tion as disclosed.  At the creditor's option, reimbursement will be based on either: 

(1) The actual amount of loan advances, with consideration given to the amount and dates payments were 
actually made by the borrower; or 

(2) The disclosed amounts of time intervals between advances and between payments. 

The basis selected shall be applied, using the lump sum or lump sum-payment reduction method (at the 
creditor's discretion), to all loans of the same type subject to reimbursement. 

2. If a creditor has failed to reflect private mortgage insurance premiums in the APR or finance charge 
disclosures, may the institution cancel the insurance after it first reimburses the customer with a lump 
sum payment to cover the period up to the date of the reimbursement? 

The creditor may elect to cancel the insurance if applicable laws and regulations are not violated.  The ef-
fect of canceling the insurance will be to reduce the amount of the customer's future payments, as permit-
ted by the "lump sum-payment reduction" method of reimbursement. 

3. If a creditor has failed to reflect private mortgage insurance premiums in the APR or finance charge 
disclosures and restitution is required, but the loan has been sold into the secondary market, how 
should reimbursement be made? 

The creditor is responsible for reimbursement, even if the loan has been sold.  If its ability to cancel the in-
surance is limited by terms of the loan sales agreement, the creditor may make payments either to the con-
sumer directly or (if it is agreeable to all parties) to the new owner of the loan.  The new owner of the loan 
would make appropriate adjustments to the account so that the consumer receives the full benefit of the re-
imbursement. 

4. If the creditor failed to include any component of the finance charge (e.g., a loan origination fee) in the 
APR or finance charge disclosures, may the amount of reimbursement be reduced to account for fees ex-
cludable from the finance charge under 12 CFR 226.4(c) which are paid for by such finance charge 
components? 
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If the borrower has not otherwise paid such excludable fees (e.g., title insurance fees) to the creditor or to 
a third party, reimbursement may be computed after first deducting from the finance charge those fees 
qualifying under 12 CFR 226.4(c). 

5. A transaction involves a loan with a term of 36 months, a payment schedule where the first 35 payments 
are calculated using a 30-year amortization and a balloon amount for the final payment.  What toler-
ance should be used when applying the Policy Guide?  One eighth of one-percent or one quarter of one-
percent? 

The applicable tolerance is based on the amortization of the loan.  Since the loan is completely amortized 
within a three-year period (i.e., the 36-month payment schedule), a tolerance of one quarter of one-percent 
should be used because the amortization period is less than ten years (15 USC 1607(e)(1)). 

6. How will the Policy Guide apply if a credit transaction has an interest rate or APR subject to increase 
and the variable rate feature was not provided on the disclosure statement? 

If the disclosure statement did not state that the rate would be subject to change, the borrower may be 
charged only the original APR disclosed.  Reimbursement under the Policy Guide will apply only to the 
period of time in which the borrower made payments at an increased rate. 

7. How will the Policy Guide apply if a creditor disclosed that a rate will be prospectively subject to in-
crease, but the APR disclosed or the finance charge disclosed or both were originally understated? 

The Policy Guide will apply as follows: 

(1) If only the APR is understated, reimbursement will be required only for the period of time before the 
first scheduled change in rate under the variable rate feature in the contract. 

The term “the first scheduled change in rate” refers to a date on which the rate will change to a level that is 
unknown or unpredictable at consummation.  It does not include changes, such as step-rates, that are 
agreed upon before consummation. 

For example, if the loan terms provide for a 9 percent rate for the first year and a 10 percent rate for the 
second year, followed by a variable-rate feature to be invoked at the beginning of the third year, reim-
bursement will apply only to the initial 24-month period.  The lump sum-payment reduction adjustment 
method may be used, using two payment streams for the initial two-year period.  Payments after the 24th 
month would not be affected by the adjustment. 

(2) If only the finance charge is understated, reimbursement generally will be required for a period cover-
ing the entire life of the loan consistent with the following:  

• If a prepaid finance charge was not included in the disclosed finance charge (such as a loan origination 
fee paid separately by the consumer at loan closing), the entire loan fee (less the applicable dollar tol-
erance) must be refunded as a "lump sum" payment. 

• If, however, the loan fee was financed (included in the loan amount), the finance charge reimburse-
ment may be prorated on a straight-line basis over the life of the loan and refunded under the lump 
sum/payment reduction method. 

However, a finance charge adjustment will be required only for the period of time before the first sched-
uled change in rate if the error occurred solely because the interest component of the disclosed finance 
charge was based on either: 

(a) The interest to be earned before the first scheduled change in rate, or 
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(b) The interest to be earned assuming an initial discounted rate over the life of the loan. 

For example, the interest component of the disclosed finance charge might incorrectly reflect only loan in-
terest for the first year on a transaction with variable-rate changes scheduled annually.  Alternatively, it 
might incorrectly reflect interest calculated only at an initial discounted variable rate for the full term of 
the loan.  In either case, if the loan terms in the example provide that the variable interest rate is subject to 
change annually, the finance charge reimbursement will apply only to the initial 12-month period. 

The adjustment may be prorated on a straight-line basis over the life of the loan. Reimbursement of pro-
rated amounts covering the period of time after the first scheduled change in rate (after month 12 in this 
example) would not be required. 

(3) If both the APR and finance charge are understated, normally the lump sum finance charge adjustment 
is compared to the lump sum APR adjustment as of the loan maturity date and the larger adjustment de-
termines which disclosure error is subject to reimbursement. In the case of variable-rate transactions, how-
ever, the lump sum APR adjustment used for comparison is calculated for the period of time before the 
first scheduled change in rate in the manner indicated by (1) above and the finance charge adjustment is 
calculated in the manner indicated by (2) above. 

For example, assume a loan in which both the APR and finance charge are understated on a 30-year, vari-
able-rate loan that calls for rate changes annually.  If both understatements were caused by the same fail-
ure to take into account a prepaid loan origination fee: 

• The APR reimbursement amount is the lump sum value for a 12-month period, which is determined by 
using the lump sum/payment reduction method and appropriate reimbursement tolerances.  

• The finance charge reimbursement amount is the lump sum value for a 360-month period, which is de-
termined by subtracting the appropriate reimbursement tolerance from the amount of the loan fee. 

The APR adjustment is compared to the finance charge adjustment to determine the larger of the two.  
In the example, the finance charge adjustment (and not the APR adjustment) would be reimbursable. 

8. If a creditor uses a simple interest rate, which is disclosed as the APR, to compute a monthly payment 
schedule, and the time interval from the date the finance charge begins to be earned to the date of the 
first payment is treated as if it were one month, even though that period is greater than one month and 
is not a “minor irregularity” under 12 CFR 226.17(c)(4), will the Policy Guide apply if the resulting 
application of the simple interest rate generates a higher finance charge than the one disclosed? 

The Policy Guide will apply if: 

(1) The creditor's method used to compute the payment schedule, as previously described, is also used to 
compute the disclosed finance charge (i.e., the total of payments less the amount financed); and 

(2) The final payment collected or scheduled under the contract (as generated by the application of the 
simple interest rate to the unpaid principal balance over the life of the loan) is greater than the one dis-
closed; and 

(3) The finance charge resulting from the conditions described under (1) and (2) is understated. 

9. Will reimbursement be required for demand loans with disclosures based on a one-year maturity when 
the demand loan contract calls for periodic payments that will amortize the loan over a definite time pe-
riod? 

Yes.  A formal amortization schedule recorded in the demand loan contract is, under 12 CFR 
226.17(c)(5), equivalent to an alternate maturity date, and disclosures based on the amortization schedule 
should be made, as opposed to the one-year disclosure. 
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10. Will reimbursement be required on demand loans when: 

(1) An alternate maturity date is disclosed and reflected in the contract, but the finance charge disclosure is 
based on one year? 

(2) There is no alternate maturity date disclosed or reflected in the contract, but the finance charge disclo-
sure is based on a period of time less than one year? 

In the first case, since there is an alternate maturity date in the contract, which is disclosed, the finance 
charge disclosure should have been based on that alternate maturity date, as required under 12 CFR 
226.17(c)(5), not on the disclosure period to be used when the instrument has no alternate maturity date. 

In the second case, the actual finance charge disclosure should have been based on a one-year period, as 
required by 12 CFR 226.17(c)(5), not on some period less than that required when the instrument has no 
alternate maturity date. 

After considering appropriate tolerances, reimbursement will be required in both cases if: 

(1) The disclosed finance charge is less than the actual finance charge for the initial required disclosure pe-
riod; and 

(2) The demand loan has been on the institution's books past the period for which finance charge disclo-
sures were made. 

Reimbursement will be calculated for the required disclosure period only.  The amount reimbursed to the 
consumer is the difference between the finance charge actually paid and the finance charge disclosed 
(which may be increased by the applicable finance charge reimbursement tolerance). 

If the demand loan has not been on the institution's books past the period for which finance charge disclo-
sures were made (e.g., the finance charge was disclosed for a one-year period, but should have been dis-
closed for a five-year period, and only 10 months have elapsed), no reimbursement is required.  However, 
if the institution takes no prospective corrective action (i.e., if it does not at least disclose in writing a refi-
nancing of the original loan) and the loan remains on the institution's books past the period for which the 
original finance charge disclosures were made, reimbursement will be required as previously indicated. 

Those concepts apply both to straight and variable rate demand loans whenever the disclosed finance 
charge is less than the actual finance charge after considering appropriate tolerances. 

11. How will the Policy Guide apply to violations of the early disclosure requirements of 12 CFR 
226.19(a)? 

As a general rule, the Policy Guide will not apply to violations involving early Truth in Lending disclo-
sures, but will apply to violations of the pre-consummation disclosures required by 12 CFR 226.17.  
However, if the creditor has provided erroneous early disclosures and has not made pre-consummation 
disclosures, the Policy Guide will apply to the erroneous early disclosures. 

Methods of Adjustment 

1. Must reimbursements resulting from understated finance charges always be made as a single “lump 
sum” amount? 

No.  Reimbursements resulting from the creditor’s failure to include prepaid finance charges in the total 
finance charge must always be refunded as a “lump sum” payment, but reimbursements resulting from 
failure to include finance charge components that accrue over time may be prorated on a straight-line basis 
(no time value) over the life of the loan and refunded under the lump sum/payment reduction method. 
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2. Must a creditor use one reimbursement method consistently on all affected loans? 

No. The creditor's right to choose between the two methods (lump sum or lump sum/payment reduction) 
applies to each transaction. 

3. May a creditor apply a lump sum reimbursement to the consumer's loan balance on a loan requiring 
reimbursement instead of making a cash payment to the consumer? 

If the loan is a closed-end loan, the creditor must make a cash payment or a deposit into an existing unre-
stricted consumer asset account such as, an unrestricted savings, NOW, or demand deposit account.  
However, if the loan is delinquent, in default, or has been charged off, the creditor may apply all or part of 
the reimbursement to the amount past due, if permissible under law. 

If the reimbursement involves an open-end account, the creditor must make a cash payment or a deposit 
into an existing unrestricted consumer asset account such as an unrestricted savings, NOW, or demand 
deposit account.  However, on a case-by-case basis, the agencies may permit the creditor to credit the con-
sumer’s open account by the amount of the reimbursement if the consumer consents.  Creditors should be 
aware that crediting open-end accounts might create credit balances subject to the requirements of 12 CFR 
226.11. In addition, if the open-end account is delinquent, in default, or has been charged off, the creditor 
may apply all or part of the reimbursement to the amount past due, if permissible under law. 

4. If a transaction involves more than one consumer, to whom must reimbursement be made? 

The reimbursement is the property of, and is to be made to, the primary obligor in the credit transaction.  
If there is more than one primary obligor, reimbursement must be made jointly.  If the primary obligor(s) 
is deceased, the payment should be made pursuant to the estate and unclaimed property laws of the state.  
If the creditor is unable to locate the primary obligor(s), after having at least mailed the reimbursement 
amount to the consumer's last known address, the amount of the reimbursement is subject to the unclaimed 
property laws of the state. 

5. How will the Policy Guide apply to residential mortgage transactions that have been assumed by a third 
party? 

Reimbursement will be made only to the original borrower and only to the extent of overcharges that oc-
curred before the assumption if: 

(1) A reimbursable violation is found on the original borrower's disclosure statement; and 

(2) The original borrower is not released from liability on the loan.  The original transaction will be con-
sidered terminated with respect to the original borrower on the date of the assumption and the rules for ap-
plication of the Policy Guide to terminated loans will apply. 

Reimbursement will be made to the original borrower for the period before the assumption occurred if: 

(1) A reimbursable violation is found on the original borrower's disclosure statement; and 

(2) The original borrower is not released from liability on the loan.  However, in the event the subsequent 
borrower defaults and the original borrower must again assume payments on the loan, such payments will 
be based on the payment amount which would have been calculated under the lump sum-payment reduc-
tion method, at the time of reimbursement, had no assumption occurred. 

If a required disclosure to a subsequent borrower contains reimbursable violations, that borrower shall be 
reimbursed for the period after the assumption occurred, based on the new disclosure. 
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Non-Disclosure of the APR or Finance Charge 

1. How will the Policy Guide apply to loans for which no disclosure statements are on file? 

If there is no evidence that the creditor furnished disclosures or if there is a preponderance of evidence that 
disclosures containing violations subject to reimbursements were destroyed before the record retention pe-
riod expired, either violation will be treated as a failure to disclose the APR.  The creditor will be given the 
opportunity to substantiate the claim that an accurate disclosure was made before final action is taken.  
The absence of compliance documentation will be viewed relative to known practices of the creditor for 
record retention and Regulation Z compliance. 

2. How will the Policy Guide apply if a creditor did not provide required disclosures to the consumer be-
fore consummation, but did supply them after consummation? 

If required disclosures were not provided before consummation of the transaction, the transaction will be 
viewed as having no APR disclosed and the Policy Guide will apply.  If the creditor's failure to provide 
disclosures included the credit life, accident, and health insurance disclosures, the insurance premiums 
must be treated as finance charges. 

3. Will the Policy Guide apply when a creditor has disclosed the APR as “2% OP” to mean a fluctuating 
rate of two percent over the prime rate, or has disclosed similar prime rate terminology instead of the 
APR? 

If the disclosure statement (not the note) clearly provides the numerical value of the prime rate as it per-
tains to the credit transaction, as of the time disclosures are given to the consumer, that rate (the prime rate 
or 2% OP) will be considered to be the disclosed APR under the Policy Guide.  If the prime rate is not 
provided on the disclosure statement, the transaction will be viewed under the Policy Guide as if no APR 
has been disclosed. 

4. Will reimbursement be required on demand loans when the variable rate feature has not been disclosed 
and the rate is increased? 

Yes.  If the consumer has not been notified in writing of the rate change on or before the date of the 
change, reimbursement will be required if the financial institution has not made the variable rate disclo-
sures. 

Each time the rate is changed and the customer is not given written notification of the new rate, the rate 
change period(s) will be treated as if no APR had been disclosed, and the Policy Guide will apply.  The 
rate on the most recent notification will serve as the contract rate. 

Improper Disclosure of Credit Life, Accident, Health, or Loss of Income Insurance 

1. Are the credit insurance provisions of the Policy Guide applicable to terminated loans? 

Yes.  The credit insurance provisions apply if such loans originated within the Policy Guide’s corrective 
action period for terminated loans. 

2. How will the Policy Guide apply if the cost of credit insurance premiums is disclosed as a rate (e.g., as 
a percentage or in dollars and cents per hundred per month) in a closed-end transaction? 

Regulation Z permits creditors to disclose credit insurance premiums on a unit-cost basis in closed-end 
transactions by mail or telephone under 12 CFR 226.17(g), and in certain closed-end transactions involv-
ing an insurance plan that limits the total amount of indebtedness subject to coverage. 
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In all other closed-end credit transactions, however, the dollar amount of insurance premiums must be dis-
closed.  If the premium cost in those cases is disclosed as dollars or cents per hundred or as a percentage, 
it will be treated as if no disclosure of the cost had been made and the Policy Guide will apply accordingly. 

3. How will the Policy Guide apply if: 

(1) The creditor does not include premiums for credit life, accident and health insurance in the APR or fi-
nance charge disclosures; and  

(2) The creditor fails to disclose the optional nature of the insurance; but  

(3) The creditor has afforded the borrower the option of taking or refusing the insurance by checking a 
block or initialing a line opposite a statement similar to the following, both of which are disclosed in 
writing to the borrower: “I desire credit life, accident and health insurance” and “I do not desire credit 
life, accident and health insurance?” 

In those cases, the Policy Guide will apply because the creditor has not disclosed to the customer in writ-
ing, as required by 12 CFR 226.4(d)(1)(i), that the credit life, accident and health insurance are optional. 

4. How will the Policy Guide apply if: 

(1) The consumer is charged for credit life, accident and health insurance premiums; and 

(2) The creditor did not include the premiums in the APR or finance charge disclosures; and 

(3) The creditor disclosed the optional nature and cost of credit life insurance to the consumer in writing 
and the customer signed or initialed close to those disclosures; and 

(4) Either no affirmative statement indicating a desire to obtain the insurance was provided or the appro-
priate box or line was not checked or otherwise marked to indicate whether the customer did or did not de-
sire the insurance? 

If the disclosure provided a choice to the customer through statements such as “I desire the insurance” and 
“I do not desire the insurance” and neither choice has been marked to designate the customer's selection, 
the Policy Guide will apply because the creditor did not meet the requirements of 12 CFR 226.4(d)(1)(iii). 

If no affirmative statement indicating a desire to purchase the insurance has been provided, and the cus-
tomer has only signed or initialed near the optional nature statements or cost disclosures, the Policy Guide 
will apply because the creditor did not meet the requirements of 12 CFR 226.4(d)(1)(iii). 

5. How will the Policy Guide apply if: 

(1) The creditor does not include premiums for credit life, accident and health insurance in the APR or fi-
nance charge disclosures; and 

(2) The creditor provides disclosures stating that the insurance is not required; and 

(3) The creditor provides the cost of each type of insurance, with a statement that the customer’s signature 
will indicate a desire to purchase the insurance listed below and the customer signs once, below the cost 
disclosure, but does not initial each type of insurance desired? 

If the disclosures clearly indicate that the customer, by signing where indicated, elects to purchase each 
type of insurance for which the cost has been provided, the Policy Guide will not apply.  However, pro-
spectively the creditor shall clarify such disclosures, by obtaining the customer's initials for each type of 
insurance selected, or by changing the manner in which the customer signs for credit insurance when more 
than one type is offered.  
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6. If vendor's single interest (VSI) insurance is written in connection with a credit transaction, the insur-
ance premiums are not included in the finance charge, and the creditor does not obtain a waiver of the 
right of subrogation from the insurer, is the resulting finance charge understatement subject to reim-
bursement under the Policy Guide? 

Yes.  However, if the insurer has not exercised such right of subrogation and agrees to prospectively waive 
that right for outstanding loans, the Policy Guide will not apply to those loans. 

Obvious Errors 

6. What are examples of Obvious Errors described in the Policy Guide? 

Consider a situation where the APR is disclosed correctly and the correct finance charge is $600, no ad-
justment would be required if the amount of the disclosed finance charge is shown as $60 or less.  Like-
wise, if the finance charge is correctly disclosed and the correct APR is 18.568%, no adjustment would be 
required if the disclosed APR is shown as 1. 


